UNDER THE GUN

in this turmoil, in this time of deprivation, of
uncertainty of life. . . . Because of the faith of our
mother and because of our prayers, we knew that
things would be okay.

Things were indeed all right in September
1949 when Walter Koch returned from his tenure
as a POW in Russia, having been separated from
his family for seven years. He returned to a small
but vibrant Benrath Branch that had been “held
together by Brother Ernst,” according to young
Alfred.

No members of the Benrath Branch are known
to have died during World War II.
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BoCcHUM BRANCH

he city of Bochum had nearly 305,469 inhab-

itants in 1939, but the LDS branch in that
city numbered only forty-eight persons. Most were
active and acquainted with the members of other
branches in the Ruhr District. Essen was just six
miles from Bochum, and Herne was just four.

In the late summer of 1939, the Bochum Branch
met in rented rooms at Rathausplatz 9 downtown.
The only members of the branch listed on the
branch directory were President Max Hackbarth
and Sunday School superintendent Anton Biihler.
The only meetings listed were Sunday School at
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10:00 a.m., priesthood meeting at noon, and sacra-
ment meeting at 7:00 p.m.!

Bochum Branch? 1939
Elders 4
Priests 0
Teachers 2
Deacons 3
Other Adult Males 13
Adulc Females 26
Male Children 0
Female Children 0
Total 48

George Blake, a missionary from Vineyard,
Utah, was assigned to work in Bochum from late
1937 to May 1938. He described the setting at
Rathausplatz 9 in these words:

We had two small rented rooms in the building,
which was a business building that fronted on
the town square. On the wall next to the entry
[outside], there was a small plaque about a foot
square with the name of the church on it. The
rooms were on the ground floor with a pump
organ in them, which was common in those
years, and a few chairs, and that’s about all the
furniture there was. I don’t remember any decor
on the walls. We moved the chairs off to the side
for the Christmas Party. Thirty people would
have filled the room; normally we had twelve to
twenty people [in attendance]. . . . The principle
population of the branch was very much blue col-
lar, the working class. . . . The branch was small
and not well attended. On our books we maybe
had fifty people, but we only had about fifteen at
our services, so most of our work as missionaries
was trying to activate members.?

Just a few months prior to the war, another Utah
missionary, Erma Rosenhan, recorded the follow-
ing in her diary: “Sunday, April 9, 1939: Visited the
Bochum Branch with district president [Friedrich]
Biehl. The branch in Bochum is small and the



Bochum Branch

Fig. 1. Christmas 1937 with Saints of the Bochum Branch. (G. Blake)

larger branches help it along. There were only nine
people there altogether.” Apparently, the branch
in Bochum was losing strength. The following sur-
names appear more than once in the branch meet-
ing minutes of the summer of 1939: Hackbarth,
Biithler, Heiden,

Kegelmann, Melter, Preuss, Klamma, Leithiuser,

Bauer, Kaminski, Mietze,
and Kossowski.’

On November 20, 1939, just a few months after
the war began, a meeting was held for the branch

and district leaders. According to the minutes
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of that meeting, two agents of the Gestapo were
present. Nothing noteworthy happened, possibly
because branch president Hackbarth was a member
of the Nazi Party (Elder Blake recalled seeing him
wearing a party membership pin on his suit coat).®
The following statement is found in the branch

minutes written in November 1939:

Due to the war conditions our sacrament meet-
ings have been held on a very irregular basis. In
September and October, only two meetings took
place, namely on September 28 and October 5.
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Fig. 2. A group of Saints in Bochum in 1938. District president Friedrich Biehl is standing at left. His brother Walter is third from the right. (G. Blake)

... Meetings were not held on the other Sundays The Relief Society funds of 41,65 RM were sent
because the members’ work schedules did not per- to the mission office in Frankfurt/Main.®

mit them to attend. The fall [branch] conference

that was scheduled for October 22, 1939 could The branch president added this statement a

not take place; the [city government] forbid it
because we did not have a suitable bomb shelter.”

month later:

The Bochum Branch and its rooms at

Two sad reports are found at the conclusion of Rathausplatz 9 have been closed due to insuffi-
the Bochum Branch meeting minutes. The first is cient attendance. Too many of the branch mem-
dated December 10, 1939, and reads as follows: bers are not available to serve in callings. There

were forty-eight registered members but they

It was announced that the Bochum Branch
was being closed temporarily and the members
transferred to the Herne Branch as of today. The
speakers today were Brothers Biithler and Ludwig,
both of whom reminded the members to remain
true to the Church. All branch property was
transferred to Herne with the exception of eight
chairs, one clock, one mailbox and some fire-
wood, which were sold for a total of 12 RM. The
branch funds totaling 4,52 RM went to Herne,
except for bus money (1,80) that was necessary
due to bad weather. After cleaning costs were
deducted, the Herne Branch received 0,60 RM.
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are scattered among various neighborhoods and
could not attend the meetings. All sincere mem-
bers hope that the branch can be reestablished
after the war. Max Hackbarth, branch president
in Bochum, January 1940.°

It is not known whether any of the members of
the Bochum Branch did indeed attend meetings in
Herne or elsewhere. It is likely that at least some
were hindered by the problem of transportation
or the challenges of wartime life and discontinued

their association with the Church.



Located near the middle of the Ruhr region with
its critical war industries, the city of Bochum suf-
fered severely during the war. Before the American
army entered the city on April 10, 1945, there had
been more than one thousand air raid alarms for at
least 147 actual attacks, twelve of which were con-
sidered “heavy attacks.” At least 4,095 persons were
killed, 5,000 more were injured, and “countless
residents were left homeless.”'® Of the city’s living
space, 22 percent was totally destroyed and another
74 percent badly damaged. Of the many Bochum
men who served in the military, 7,048 died. As late
as 1948, there were 8,089 residents reported missing
or still prisoners of war. Life in Bochum was clearly
fraught with hazards; therefore it is remarkable that
no Latter-day Saints in Bochum became casualties

of the war.
IN MEMORIAM

Only one member of the Bochum Branch is

known to have died in World War II:

Marianna Hildegard Uhlig b. Chemnitz, Chem-
nitz, Sachsen, 24 Oct 1902; dau. of Oskar Uhlig and
Auguste Hilde Wittig; bp. 1 Aug 1913; conf. 1 Aug 1913;
m. 3 Jun 1922, Kurt Walter Miiller; 2m. Chemnitz 19
Oct 1928; d. 20 Sep 1939 (FHL microfilm 68784; CHL
microfilm 2447 pt. 26 no. 231; FHL microfilm no.
245239 1925 and 1930 censuses; IGI)
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Buer Branch

BUER BRANCH

he smallest branch in the Ruhr District was in
the community of Buer, nestled between sev-
eral large cities in the region. Only ten miles north
of Essen, the Latter-day Saints in Buer would have
faced no great obstacles in attending district con-
ferences in Essen. Thirty-one residents of this town

were recorded as members of the LDS branch.

Buer Branch! 1939
Elders 2
Priests 2
Teachers 0
Deacons 1
Other Adult Males 0
Adult Females 11
Male Children 15
Female Children 0
Total 31

The dominant character in the Buer Branch in
1939 was Johann Nowotczin. Little is known about
him, but he filled several positions in branch lead-
ership: branch president and clerk, Sunday School
president and clerk, YMMIA superintendant and
secretary, and Der Stern magazine agent. His wife,
Johanna, served as the president and secretary of
the Primary organization, which had fifteen male
children at the time. Their daughter Agnes served
in two roles—Sunday School secretary and Primary
secretary. The only person in leadership who did not
belong to the Nowitczin family was Adolf Kerstan,
Brother Nowitczin’s first counselor.?

The branch meetings were held in rented rooms
at Horsterstrasse in Buer. Nothing is known about
the building. Sunday School began at 10:00 a.m.

and sacrament meeting at 3:00 p.m. The Primary
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met on Tuesdays at 5:00 p.m., and MIA met two
hours later.

As of this writing, no eyewitnesses from the
Buer Branch can be found, and no records from
that branch exist in the Church History Library.

No members of the Buer Branch are known to
have died during World War II.
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COLOGNE BRANCH

n 1939, the city of Cologne was the fourth largest
Iin the Reich with 767,222 inhabitants. Situated
on the left bank of the Rhine River, it had been
founded by the Romans nearly two thousand years
earlier and featured the tallest twin-tower cathedral

in the world.

Cologne Branch! 1939
Elders 9
Priests 3
Teachers 3
Deacons 5
Other Adult Males 29
Adult Females 78
Male Children 3
Female Children 13
Total 143

At the far south extent of the Ruhr District (forty
miles southwest of Essen), the Cologne Branch was,

by population, large enough to sustain itself; but
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for some reason no functioning YWMIA, Relief
Society, or Primary organization existed in 1939.
(It is especially curious that a branch with so many
adult women had no official Relief Society leader-
ship.) The branch president was Gerhard Geller,
and his counselors were Hugo Romboy and Albert
Bauske. The Sunday School was led by Johannes
Sachon and the YMMIA by Hubert Ernst. The only
woman listed was Maria Ernst, who represented
Der Stern magazine.”

The meeting rooms were rented in a building at
Mozartstrasse 11. The only available description is
provided by missionary George Blake of Vineyard,
Utah:

They had a large room and two small rooms.
There was a picture of Christ at Gethsemane
and a picture of the First Vision on the left
wall, and a board to post the numbers of the
hymns on the right wall. Typical attendance [in
December 1938] was more than thirty persons.
The Romboys played a major role in the branch
because there were so many of them.?

When the war began in September 1939, only three
meetings were scheduled for the Cologne Branch:
Sunday School at 10:00 a.m., sacrament meeting at
7:00 p.m., and Mutual on Tuesdays at 8:00 p.m.

“I remember that
my dad [Paul Romboy]
was drafted in 1941,”
explained Ursula Rom-
boy (born 1939). In
addition to her memo-
ries of being alone with
her mother, Grete, dur-
ing the war, she recalled

theair raids that severely

damaged the city in the

later years of the war:

Fig. 1. Paul Romboy as a

Wehrmacht soldier around 1942.

We went into our cel- (U. Romboy Gamble)

lar a lot of times dur-
ing the heavy bomb-
ing in 1943 and 1944. There were bunk beds,

and my mother took snacks, and so I never



